
 

 

October 25, 2022 

 

By Email and Certified Mail 

 

Debra Haaland, Secretary of the Interior 

U.S. Department of the Interior 

1849 C Street, NW 

Washington, D.C. 20240 

exsec@ios.doi.gov  

 

Martha Williams, Director 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 

1849 C Street NW, Room 3331 

Washington, DC 20240-0001 

martha_williams@fws.gov  

 

Dear Secretary Haaland and Director Williams, 

 

This letter serves as a sixty-day notice from the Center for Biological Diversity (Center) of our 

intent to sue the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) pursuant to the Endangered Species Act 

(ESA), 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6), for the agency’s failure to publish a final listing determination for 

Tiehm’s buckwheat. See also Or. Nat. Res. Council v. Kantor, 99 F.3d 334, 339 (9th Cir. 1996) 

(confirming that the statute’s plain language requires the Secretary to publish a final regulation 

within one-year period beginning on the date the proposed regulation was published).  The Center 

is providing this letter to you pursuant to the 60-day notice requirement of the citizen suit provision 

of the ESA. 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2)(C). 

 

Requirements of the ESA 

 

Section 4 of the ESA states: 

 

Within the one-year period beginning on the date on which general notice is published in 

accordance with paragraph (5)(A)(i) regarding a proposed regulation, the Secretary shall 

publish in the Federal Register— 

 

(i) if a determination as to whether a species is an endangered species or a threatened 

species, or a revision of critical habitat, is involved, either— 

 

(I) a final regulation to implement such determination, 
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(II) a final regulation to implement such revision or a finding that such revision 

should not be made, 

 

(III) notice that such one-year period is being extended under subparagraph (B)(i), 

or 

 

(IV) notice that the proposed regulation is being withdrawn under subparagraph  

(B)(ii), together with the finding on which such withdrawal is based; or 

 

(ii) subject to subparagraph (C), if a designation of critical habitat is involved, either— 

 

(I) a final regulation to implement such designation, or 

 

(II) notice that such one-year period is being extended under such subparagraph. 

 

16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A). 

 

FWS’s Violation of the ESA 

 

The FWS has failed to comply with its duty under 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6) to publish a final listing 

determination for Tiehm’s buckwheat.  

 

Tiehm’s Buckwheat 

 

Tiehm’s buckwheat (Eriogonum tiehmii Reveal, Polygonaceae) is an extremely rare plant species 

that is found only on 10 acres of Bureau of Land Management administered land in an isolated 

location of the Rhyolite Ridge area of the Silver Peak Range mountains of western Nevada. It is 

threatened by proposed mining development and, more recently, by as-yet-unexplained 

collection/destruction events that have eliminated approximately 40 percent of the species’ global 

population. Additional disturbances within the species’ habitat continued to occur through 2021 

and 2022, underscoring the significant risk that this species faces to its survival. 

 

The Center filed a petition to list Tiehm’s buckwheat under the ESA on October 7, 2019, and the 

FWS issued a positive 90-day finding on the petition on July 22, 2020. 85 Fed. Reg. 44265. On 

October 7, 2021, following a federal court decision holding that FWS violated the ESA by failing 

to issue a proposed rule within 12 months of the positive 90-day finding and a stipulated request 

for a revised remedy, Tiehm’s buckwheat was proposed for listing as endangered. 86 Fed. Reg. 

55,775, 55,777.  
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The  2021 proposed listing triggered a mandatory requirement under the ESA that FWS make a 

determination on the proposed listing within one year. 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(6)(A)(i). Therefore, 

FWS was required to make such determination regarding the Tiehm’s buckwheat by October 7, 

2022. If the Secretary does not make the required determination within the next 60 days, the Center 

intends to file suit. 

 

It is our practice to pursue negotiations whenever possible. In keeping with this policy, we invite 

the FWS to contact us to discuss the issues raised in this notice. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

/s/ Scott Lake 

Scott Lake 

Nevada Staff Attorney 

Center for Biological Diversity 

PO Box 6205 

Reno, NV 89513-6205 

(802) 299-7495 

slake@biologicaldiversity.org  
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